RECEIVED

07-23-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No.2015AP1126-CR (Milwaukee County Case No. 2013CF2480)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PHILLIP KAREEN GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal From the Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Motion, Both Entered In The Circuit Court For Milwaukee County, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Ellen Henak State Bar No. 1012490 Robert R. Henak State Bar No. 1016803

HENAK LAW OFFICE, S.C. 316 North Milwaukee Street, Suite 535 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 283-9300

Counsel for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the evidence adduced at trial was sufficient to prove that Phillip Kareen Green, who had a concealed carry permit, had utter disregard for human life and therefore to convict Phillip Kareen Green of first degree reckless homicide when Green did nothing to upset or provoke the victim and shot once only after the victim, who was driving, pulled over the truck, pulled open the back door which Green himself could not have opened, threw numerous punches, pulled Green's clothing up over Green's head, and, attempted to stomp on Green's head while Green was on the ground.

The circuit court denied a postconviction motion raising this issue.

2. Whether Phillip Kareen Green is entitled to a new trial in the interests of justice because: (1) the real controversy was not tried either because the jury instructions did not explain that imperfect self-defense negated "utter disregard" or because key testimony concerning events prior to the victim's unprovoked physical escalation was not put in context and a key fact introduced; or (2) because the faulty jury instruction caused justice to miscarry.

The circuit court denied a postconviction motion raising this issue.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22. Appellant's arguments clearly are substantial and do not fall within that class of frivolous or near frivolous arguments concerning which oral argument may be denied under Rule 809.22(2)(a).

Green does not seek publication under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23.

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No.2015AP1126-CR (Milwaukee County Case No. 2013CF2480)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PHILLIP KAREEN GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the shooting of an extremely angry man who began an argument over no-one-knows-what (R57:20, 46-47); pulled over a truck in anger, even though others in the truck believed nothing had been said that would justify doing so (*id*.:89); got out and opened the back door which could not be opened from the inside (*id*.:19, 48, 89-90); threw numerous punches while his target failed to land a punch (R56:80-81, 92; R57:25, 50), pulled the target's clothing up over his head (R56:94-95); and, after the target was on the ground, attempted to stomp on the target's head (*id*.:95; R57:51, 92-93). The target of the man's anger, who was carrying a gun pursuant to a concealed carry permit (*id*.:22, 60; R58:28) and "wasn't really the–that aggressive" (R56:93), never landed a punch. (*id*:80; R57:25, 27) He fired one fatal shot (R56:12; R58:45). The key question at the heart of the trial was whether the shot was fired in self-defense, imperfect self-defense, or solely in anger.

The jury convicted Phillip Kareen Green of one count of First-Deg. Reckless Homicide by Use of a Dangerous Weapon, contrary to Wisconsin Statutes §§ 939.63(1)(b) and 940.02(1). (R20). The court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner presiding, sentenced him to 30 years in prison with 18 years of initial confinement and 12 years of extended supervision. (R26).

Green timely filed a postconviction motion pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes § 809.30, alleging that the evidence was insufficient to find that he acted with "utter disregard for human life" and that he should get a new trial in the interests of justice. (R35;R36). The court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. (R44).

Notice of appeal was timely filed on June 5, 2015. (R45).

FACTS

Phillip Green, the 40-year-old holder of a concealed carry permit (R57:22, 60; R58:26, 28), spent part of the day on May 24, 2013 trying to help his fiancee's brother, Nicklaus Gordon, get a job with Green's employer, the City of Milwaukee (*id*.:26, 29).

That evening, after he and Gordon had parted ways, Gordon was at Dale's Bar (R57:9). Green also drove to Dale's Bar, at the urging of Gordon, who did not mention that he was not alone. (R58:26, 28-29, 32; *see also* R57:38). Green left his gun outside and entered the bar (*id*.:50), where he discovered that Gordon was with two men: Ernest Banks, who was married to the sister of Gordon's fiancee, and Johntel Henderson, a friend of both Banks and Gordon, whom Green had never met before. (*Id*.:5, 7-8, 10, 75-77, 99; R58:45).

All of the men were significantly younger than Green. Banks was the youngest, and he was twelve or thirteen years younger than Green. (R57:41). They were not a group that hung out regularly (*id*.), and they were the only customers in the bar (R58:32).

Banks was the type of hot-head who "goes off easy," especially if he believed he was being disrespected. (R57:107-108). Banks did not like Green, and told Henderson at Dale's that "he don't know why Nick called [Green] to the bar with us knowing that [Banks] did not like him." (*Id*.:109). They did not have a good relationship from Green's perspective either (R58:46) and had exchanged words approximately three years earlier when Green and Gordon were arguing and Banks tried to intervene (R57:55-56).

Gordon drank alcohol while they were at Dale's, but could not remember how much.(*Id*.:10). Henderson said Banks had a beer and a shot and Gordon had at least as much. (*Id*.:81). Both Green and Henderson testified they had a beer there. (*Id*. 78; R58:32).

After approximately twenty minutes, the men left. (R57:79; R58:33). According to Gordon and Henderson, they left to go to another bar, 502, to shoot pool. (R57:11, 97). Banks said something to Henderson and then those two left while Gordon asked Green to come. (R58:33). Green knew that his fiancee was at a gathering at 502 so he agreed to go. (*Id.*).

Banks drove Gordon's truck to Henderson's house to allow Henderson to drop off his car. (R57:13, 79). Green drove to Henderson's house, where all four met up. (*Id*.:79; R58:14). Gordon then jumped into Green's car. (R57:11; R58:14). Banks came over to Green's car and insisted that they should all ride together. Green grabbed his gun out of his rental car so there was no chance of it being stolen from his rental car and because his permit allowed him to carry it. (*Id*.:50-51). They all got into Gordon's truck. (R57:15). Banks drove and Henderson was in the front passenger seat. (R58:35). Green was in the back seat behind Banks while Gordon was behind Henderson. (*Id*.)

When they arrived at 502, Green discovered that the truck had the child safety locks on and that someone else had to open the door from the outside for him to exit. (*Id*.:35). Banks let him out and they went into 502. (*Id*.:36-37).

Gordon admitted to drinking at 502. (R57:16). Green claimed he did not drink there, although Henderson claimed he did. (*Id*.:81; R58:37). Henderson claimed he only had water. (R57:81). During the approximately 20-30 minutes they were there (*id*.), Henderson and Banks did not talk to Green or Gordon at all, but were off talking between themselves. (*Id*.:14, 16-17, 37, 43). Green and Gordon met up with their fiancees and other women (*id*.:14, 16-17, 43, 81; R58:37). Henderson and Banks wanted to leave and Banks told Gordon it was time to go (R57:17, 82). Gordon then told Green. (R58:37).

Green thought that he was going back to his car (*id*.:38), but Banks suggested going to a club (R57: 43-44; R58:38). Banks suggested Ricky's, which was on approximately 26th Street and Wells Avenue.¹ (R57:43-44, 86; R58:38). Green said he did not want to go, but Gordon wheedled Green, "we just going for a minute, man." (R57: 44; R58:38).

Banks drove the truck to Ricky's as they all sat in the same places as before. (R57:82-84; R58:39). Banks parked the truck and Banks and Henderson went toward Ricky's. (R57:44). According to Green and Henderson, Banks and Henderson opened the doors for the two in the back who could not get out themselves, due to the child safety locks. Green and Gordon were getting out of the truck as Banks and Henderson approached Ricky's.² (*Id*.:84-85; R58:39). Henderson and Banks stopped at the door and returned to the truck. (*Id*.:84-85). There was no conversation about why they did not go inside. (R58:40).

Banks began driving again. (R57:46). The music was on and Banks and Henderson were talking (*id*.:105), but Green could not hear what they were saying (R58:40). Banks then turned down the music and announced that they were going to the Cheetah Club and that everyone was coming with him. (R58:41). Green asked to go home (R57:46, 86) and then Henderson said he wanted to go home

¹ Although Green does not remember it and Gordon does not mention it, Henderson claimed they first went to a club on Water Street, parked in front, decided it was too crowded and left. (R57:83-84).

²

Gordon claimed he and Green never got out of the truck. (R57:44).

too (*id*.:87). Gordon, whom Green believed was asleep or drunk (R58:40), again wheedled him into staying with the group (*id*.; *see also* R57:87).

Nevertheless, Banks became angry, upset, and loud. (*Id*.:20,46). He said, "I got my shit together," pointed over to Henderson and said, "I believe you got your shit together," pointed at Gordon, who was in the back seat, and said, "[Y]ou got your shit together," and then pointed at Green and said, "[B]ut I don't know about you." (*Id*.:20). Green responded, "I got my shit together, what the fuck wrong with you?"³ (*Id*.). Green then asked Gordon what was wrong with Banks (*Id*.:20; R58:41). An argument ensued. (R57:21). Henderson told the police that he did not know what the disagreement was about, but later swore that it was over which strip club was better. (R57:87). Green testified that he heard Banks threaten to beat Green's "ass." (R58:41).

Banks suddenly pulled over by 27^{th} Street and Hadley, saying something such as "this is my brother's truck." (R57:89). Gordon thought it weird. (*Id*.:23). Henderson knew that Banks was very mad, but took no action at all because he was waiting to see if Banks was as mad as Henderson thought. (*Id*.:90).

Green could not get out of the car because of the child safety locks. (*Id*.48). Nor could Gordon. While Gordon was trying to get himself out, Green's door opened. (*Id*: 48, 91) Banks had gotten out and yanked it open. (*Id*.:24, 90). According to Henderson, Green tried to get out but Banks was in his way. (*Id*.:112). Green testified that Banks tried to pull him out of the car by his shirt (R58:42). Green then got out. (*Id*.; R57:90).

The woman viewing parts of the fight from across the street and through a window did not have a clear recollection, but initially saw Banks hitting Green. (*Id*.:92). Green was not the aggressor or causing the problem. (*Id*.:93).

³ Henderson testified to a similar exchange but insisted it was not in response to Green requesting to go to his car. (R57:106).

Gordon, Henderson, and Green all agree that Banks punched Green and he fell. (*Id*.:25, 27, 92, 95; R58:42, 53). All of the witnesses agree that, while Green was on the ground, Banks kicked Green, (R57:28, 50, 92, 95), although Green just remembers feeling blows of some type when he was on the ground (R58:43).

Henderson saw Banks try to stomp on Green's head. (R57:92). Banks also pulled Green's vest over his head at some point (*id*.:94, 113) and Green was unable to see (R58:43). Banks punched at Green several other times, with Gordon believing he connected (R57:27), Green agreeing Banks connected with his body (R58:42-43), and Henderson disputing that account. (R57: 117). Gordon's recollection was that Green never threw a punch (*id*.:25, 27), but Henderson remembers it differently (*id*.:116) and Green suggested he might have tried to punch Banks initially to get him to move back, but ultimately indicated that he tried to move his hands away (R58:53-54). The woman across the street, looking through the window, did not have a good recollection, but remembered more wrestling from Green than punching. (R56.:81).

Henderson claimed to have grabbed Banks to calm things down right by the truck door (R57.:90), although Banks then pushed him aside to fight (*id*:91). Henderson said that he then was away from them until after Green fell. (*Id*.:93). Gordon claimed that, while Green was on the ground and before, he and Henderson were trying to calm things down and he was in front of Green. (*Id*.:29, 53). Henderson claimed he again began pulling Banks away, but Banks got away from him. (*Id*.:96). The woman across the street believed that Gordon and Henderson were trying to break up the fight. (*Id*.:76, 79, 82).

Green himself remembered seeing Gordon directly to the left of him when he was on the ground, but did not see Henderson. (R58:44-45, 57-58).

Banks was in a fighting posture (R57:31, 53, 96). Neither Green nor the woman across the way saw much of what happened next. Gordon remembered last seeing Green on the ground, although he thought Green might have gotten up. (*Id*.:31, 52). Gordon's hands were up and he then heard a shot over his right shoulder and did not know who had shot the gun. (*Id*.:31). The woman saw all four men as being "huddled up," with Green's back toward her and then heard a pop. (R56:82, 85, 99).

Green's testimony matched both these descriptions and the physical evidence. Green testified that Banks then was approximately three feet in front of him, although it could have been a bit more and he initially told the police it was eight feet. (R58:44, 62). He began to get up and, as he did so, he saw Banks coming toward him. He could not run so he pulled his gun. (*Id*.:45, 67). He said several times that he did so because he feared for his life. (*Id*.:45, 65). He pulled the gun up in a swinging motion because his shoulder was injured. (*Id*.:60). He focused his attention on Banks because he did not want to hit anyone else, pointed at his upper chest, and fired when Banks was one or two feet away. (*Id*.:62-63). Dr. Wieslawa Tlomak, the deputy chief medical examiner who autopsied Banks' body, noted that stippling on the body indicated that Banks was shot from between one-and-a-half and two feet away. (R57:122, 124, 131).

But Henderson insisted that they were never that close and that the woman was wrong. (*Id*.:96). He placed Banks and Green four or five feet apart and claimed Banks never left his fighting stance, but he was behind Banks. (Id.:118-119). He saw Green's arm swing, supposedly over Gordon, saw Green pull the trigger, and heard a single shot. (*Id*.).

Banks stumbled and fell. (R56:86; R58:46). Gordon looked at the situation, jumped in the truck, and fled. (R56:87, 101-101, 112; R57:33; R58:46). Henderson claimed he went to the truck and retrieved his phone to call the police, but called his wife instead. (R57:97). The woman across the way contradicted him and said he jumped in the truck with Gordon (R56:87, 100-101).

There is no dispute about what Green did next. Green stayed on the scene, but kept saying "get off me" over Banks, which the woman across the street assumed came from shock and fright. (R56:86, 103). He holstered his gun, called the police, and said he shot someone. (R56:62; R58:47). The police came within a few minutes. (R58:48).

The police quickly discovered Banks was dead. (R56:11-12, 22, 42). Green walked up to Milwaukee Police Officer Jeffrey Krueger and told Krueger that he was the one who shot Banks and who called 911. (*Id*.:18; R58:48).

ARGUMENT

I.

PHILLIP GREEN'S CONVICTION FOR FIRST DE-GREE RECKLESS HOMICIDE SHOULD BE VACATED AND A CONVICTION FOR SECOND-DE-GREE RECKLESS HOMICIDE ENTERED BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT AS TO THE ELEMENT OF UTTER DISREGARD FOR HUMAN LIFE.

The jury convicted Mr. Green of first degree reckless homicide. (R20; R26). A person commits first degree reckless homicide when he "recklessly causes the death of another human being under circumstances which show utter disregard for human life." Wis. Stats. §940.02(1). By contrast, a person is only guilty of second degree reckless homicide if he "recklessly causes the death of another human being." *Id.* §940.06(1). The difference between the two crimes is whether the defendant acted with "utter disregard for human life."

The burden in a criminal case is on the state to prove every fact necessary for conviction of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *E.g.*, *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970). "The standard for reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of

the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Rushing*, 197 Wis.2d 631, 641, 541 N.W.2d 155 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 319).

The requirement of "utter disregard" means the same as the "depraved mind, regardless of life" language used prior to the 1987 revisions to Wisconsin homicide statutes did. State v. Miller, 2009 WI App 111, ¶32, 320 Wis.2d 724, 772 N.W.2d 188. "Utter disregard requires 'more than a high degree of negligence or recklessness."" Miller, ¶33 (quoting Wagner v. State, 76 Wis.2d 30, 46, 250 N.W.2d 331 (1977)). "[C]riminal recklessness' means that the actor creates an unreasonable and substantial risk of death or great bodily harm to another human being and the actor is aware of that risk." Wis. Stat. §939.24(1). To evince utter disregard, however, "[t]he mind must not only disregard the safety of another but be devoid of regard for the life of another. A depraved mind lacks a moral sense, an appreciation of life, is unreasonable and lacks judgment."" Miller, ¶33 (quoting *Wagner*, 76 Wis.2d at 46). "A person acting with utter disregard must possess 'a state of mind which has no regard for the moral or social duties of a human being."" Id. (quoting Wagner, 76 Wis.2d at 45).

In *Miller*, the Court faced a sufficiency challenge to a conviction for first degree reckless injury. First and second degree reckless injury track the same elements as first and second degree reckless homicide, the one difference being resulting great bodily harm rather than death. *See Miller*, ¶32. The Court in *Miller* noted that it was "aware of no Wisconsin cases challenging the sufficiency of evidence to prove 'utter disregard' or 'depraved mind' that have arisen on facts similar to those of the present case." *Miller*, ¶35. It nonetheless concluded that the evidence was insufficient for conviction. In doing so, the Court conceded that "Miller fired a shotgun at a person from a range of sixteen to eighteen feet, causing great bodily harm to Nakai and exposing Nakai to an extreme risk that could have caused Nakai's death." *Id.*, ¶39. The Court noted the remaining considerations, however, "including principally the reason for Miller's conduct," in concluding that the evidence was insufficient to show "utter disregard." *Id.* Primary among the Court's concerns with the evidence was that "[i]t would appear undisputed that a reason, if not *the* reason, for Miller's conduct was to protect himself and his friends. This reason is inconsistent with conduct evincing utter disregard." *Id.*, ¶40.

In essence, what the Court was saying was that, in imperfect self-defense situations, when the principal actual reason the defendant fires a gun is to defend himself, even if his actions do not meet the criteria for the total defense of self-defense, there cannot be "utter disregard." Because this case presents an imperfect selfdefense situation (even construing the evidence in the light most favorable to the state), Green's actions do not evince "utter disregard for human life." The evidence therefore was insufficient to convict him of first degree reckless homicide.

Miller and the case at bar are factually similar in several key ways. The most obvious similarity is that both Miller and Green claimed they acted in self-defense, an assertion the state opposed in both cases. Here, the state's claim that Green was acting in anger (*see, e.g.,* R59:17), did not conflict with the notion that he was acting in self-defense. Anger does not preclude self-defense and a claim of self-defense need not be pure. (*Miller,* ¶40 (nothing self defense was "a reason, if not *the* reason".) When someone is being beaten, it is human nature for that person to be angry.

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