RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **10-22-2015**

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP1126-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PHILLIP KAREEN GREEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

SARAH K. LARSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030446

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

In contrast, a reasonable person would not conclude that shooting someone in the head, as Green did, is a mitigating circumstance, and instead would believe it to be an indication of utter disregard. Indeed, there is no evidence to suggest that Green attempted to shoot the victim in the leg or in the air, but somehow missed and hit the victim's head. Rather, Green himself testified that he pointed the gun at the victim's chest (58:76), and the other evidence showed that the bullet ended up hitting the victim's face after Green specifically reached around Gordon in a rage (57:96-98) in order to shoot the unarmed, non-menacing victim from less than two feet away (57:125-133).

In summary, even if Green himself believed he needed to shoot the victim in self-defense (58:45), a reasonable person would not believe that self-defense using deadly force was justified here. See, e.g., Jensen, 236 Wis. 2d 521, ¶ 17 (utter disregard analysis based on what objective, reasonable person would believe); Edmunds, 229 Wis. 2d at 77 (utter disregard analysis does not depend on defendant's utter disregard in fact, but whether conduct and surrounding circumstances, as generally considered by mankind, are sufficient to evince utter disregard).

This court's duty is not to search for evidence that supports Green's self-defense theory, but to review the trial evidence in the light most favorable to the State and the conviction. See, e.g., Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d at 507-508. Under that light, the evidence at trial was clearly sufficient to sustain Green's conviction. See, e.g., Jensen, 236 Wis. 2d 521, ¶ 24 (in utter disregard calculus, jury can consider what defendant was doing, why he was doing it, how dangerous the conduct was, and how obvious the danger was). 2. Sufficient evidence existed for the jury to conclude that Green acted with utter disregard because Green was just as belligerent and aggressive as the victim, if not more, and acted out in a senseless act of retaliatory violence stemming from a stupid, petty argument.

Green also argues that he was acting in self-defense, and not with utter disregard, because the victim was violent and belligerent, and therefore, neither blameless nor vulnerable (Green's brief at 10-11), particularly because the victim was 12 or 13 years younger than Green (*id.* at 12). Conversely, Green argues that he was not aggressive, noting that "the fight came to Green and Green did not go to the fight" (*id.* at 11).

While true that the jury had an obligation to consider factors related to the victim, *see, e.g., Jensen*, 236 Wis. 2d 521, ¶ 24, the jury also had sufficient evidence from which to conclude that the victim was not the only aggressor, and that Green was just as verbally belligerent and physically aggressive as the victim, if not more. At the very least, the jury had sufficient evidence from which to conclude that the fight was mutual, and was not just the one-sided picture that Green paints of a crazy, hot-headed person (*i.e.*, the victim) attacking a purely innocent bystander (*i.e.*, Green).

Green argues that the eyewitness testified (56:93) that the shooter (*i.e.*, Green) was not that aggressive, and that the victim was the one who created the situation in which Green feared for his life (Green's brief at 5, 11). But the eyewitness also testified that, during the physical altercation, the victim said something to the effect of "Let me go" to the shooter (56:79). The shooter pulled the victim's shirt, and was "tussling" with the victim (56:80-81). The eyewitness also testified that, although the victim tried to punch the shooter, it was only in an attempt to get away, and the victim did not make contact with the shooter (56:81).

Gordon also testified that he had not seen Green throw any punches, but he still grabbed Green in an effort to stop him from fighting with the victim (57:25). When asked why he grabbed Green if Green had not thrown any punches, Gordon replied, "they were going at each other" because "it's a fight" (57:25-26). Gordon did not see who threw the first punch, but he believed the fight was mutual, and he thought Green was "going to go back and punch" the victim (57:26).

As Gordon further explained on cross-examination, he was trying to restrain Green by standing in front of Green with his hands on Green (57:50). But Gordon had to move from that position, because Green "was angry and he was pushing. And [Green] was saying get the fuck off me. Get off me" (57:50). Nevertheless, Gordon still kept trying to grab Green because Green kept fighting, and Gordon was trying to stop Green from fighting (57:58). Indeed, Gordon testified that Green did nothing to stop fighting, Green told Gordon to get off him, and Green tried to get back to fighting the victim, because Green wanted to continue the fight (57:58-59).

Moreover, the victim did not actually stomp on Green's head when Green was on the ground (Green's brief at 6, 22). Henderson testified that, after Green fell to the ground, the victim "was going to get ready to stomp ... [Green] in the ground. I said [Victim] don't do that" (57:92). At that point, "[i]nstead of stomping him in the head, [the victim] kicked [Green] in the back" (57:93). Gordon also testified that the victim kicked Green only once when Green was on the ground (57:50-51). Henderson also testified that Green was not even on the ground when the victim kicked him, but Green was getting up off the ground (57:95).

As further proof contradicting Green's insinuation that the victim was the only hot-head and Green had nothing to do with starting the verbal argument (Green's brief at 5), Henderson testified that the verbal argument was mutual, and although it was a "very" petty argument about which strip club was better, both men were getting very heated during the verbal argument (57:87-88). Henderson described how the verbal argument progressed:

Back and forth, words like when they get ready to explode, I think Mr. Green told [the victim], get your shit together. [The victim] told him I got my shit together. And then they begin to get loud with each other. Whole ass nigger came out. [The victim] looked in the rear view mirror. And by this time we're on 27th and Hadley. The car get[s] pulled over.

(57:88-89).

Then, before Green even got out of the car, Green was saying things to the victim like "I'm not this, I'm not a hoe, I'm not a bitch, whatever" (57:91). When they got out of the car, Henderson attempted to calm the victim down, but then Green and the victim were "back nose to nose with each other" (57:91). Gordon was also trying to get over to the group, but before he could get there, "they begin to start fighting each other" (57:91). When asked what started the physical fight, Henderson replied,

Like I say, when [Green] kept talking, after I had [the victim] in a bear hug trying to calm him down, the defendant kept talking, saying things. [The victim] was getting even madder than what he was. So he moved me out of the way. And he begin[s] to proceed toward Mr. Green. And that's when they begin to start fighting. (57:91). It was a mutual physical argument (57:92), and even after the physical fight began, "words [were] coming out of [Green's] mouth still" (57:96).

Finally, Gordon testified that, although Green and the victim did not see eye to eye (57:7-9) and had had a dispute at least three years or more before the shooting, Green and the victim had been places together at least three or four times since then without any problems (57:55-57). Gordon's testimony that it was unusual for the victim to act in the manner he did on the night of the shooting (57:56-57) was further proof from which the jury could infer that the victim was not necessarily the only aggressor in the situation.

3. Sufficient evidence existed for the jury to find that Green's post-shooting act of calling 911 did not mitigate Green's utter disregard in shooting the victim.

Finally, Green argues that, like the defendant in *Miller*, he took responsibility for the shooting by immediately calling 911 and waiting for the police (Green's brief at 13). But the jury could have concluded that this one post-homicide act of calling 911 (56:18) was insufficient to negate the utter disregard that Green showed for the victim both before and during the homicide. *See, e.g., Burris,* 333 Wis. 2d 87, ¶ 34. *See also Jensen,* 236 Wis. 2d 521, ¶¶ 30-32 (sufficient evidence of "utter disregard" existed despite defendant's attempt at mitigation).

In other words, while it could be considered a positive act on Green's part that he called 911, that act in and of itself, when combined with the senseless fatal violence that Green perpetrated against the victim, did not require the jury to find that Green's conduct had not demonstrated an utter disregard for the victim's life. *Edmunds*, 229 Wis. 2d at 78. *See also Burris*, 333 Wis. 2d 87, ¶ 34 (evidence of some regard for human life does not preclude jury finding of utter disregard, and does not require reversal of jury's determination that defendant's conduct, as a whole, evinced utter disregard).

Moreover, the jury could have just as easily concluded that Green had some other reason to call 911 besides regard for the victim's life, such as Green's own selfish desire to appear less culpable for the homicide. Or as the prosecutor argued in closing, the call may have only reflected Green's remorse after he realized he had just killed a man (59:36).

Finally, although Green admitted to police on the scene that he shot the victim and that he was the 911 caller (56:18), the evidence showed that the victim was likely already dead when Green called 911. For example, the gunshot occurred at roughly 12:38 a.m. (56:50),⁹ and security footage showed that the victim fell to the ground at about 12:40 a.m. (56:106, 112, 114). Further, when first responders arrived, the victim was pulseless, not breathing, and was pronounced dead shortly thereafter (56:11-12, 52). He was also bleeding from the head and mouth (56:16).

The eyewitness similarly testified that right after the victim was shot, he fell to the ground, "like he had no life in him" (56:85). He "[j]ust dropped," with "[n]o life. He didn't even move" (56:86). The victim was not moving when the first responders put him in the ambulance (56:87).

⁹This testimony was based upon the police department's "ShotSpotter," a radar-based system that records audio and triangulates the position of the gunshot using radar systems that are "strategically placed" in the police district (56:50).

In that sense, the 911 call was ineffectual in showing any regard for the victim's life, because Green could see that the victim had already died by the time Green called 911. *Cf. State v. Geske*, 2012 WI App 15, ¶ 18, 339 Wis. 2d 170, 810 N.W.2d 226 (last minute swerve did not negate utter disregard when legally intoxicated driver drove over 80 miles per hour through city). Calling 911 after shooting someone in the head at close range is akin to swerving at the last minute after driving intoxicated at 80 miles per hour throughout a crowded city street. *Id.* (defendant could not reasonably expect to avoid collision by swerving at last moment). Neither ineffectual act can reasonably be seen as showing regard for the victim's life. *Id.*

II. GREEN IS NOT ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL IN THE INTERESTS OF JUSTICE.

A. Relevant legal principles.

1. Discretionary reversal is a formidable power and should be exercised sparingly.

Under Wis. Stat. § 752.35, this court may order a new trial in the interest of justice on either of two grounds: "that the real controversy has not been fully tried, or that it is probable that justice has for any reason miscarried." See State v. Cleveland, 2000 WI App 142, ¶ 21, 237 Wis. 2d 558, 614 N.W.2d 543. To establish that the real controversy has not been fully tried, a defendant must demonstrate "that the jury was precluded from considering 'important testimony that bore on an important issue' or that certain evidence which was improperly received 'clouded a crucial issue' in the case." Id. (quoted sources omitted).

An appellate court will exercise its discretion to grant a new trial in the interest of justice only in exceptional cases. *Id.* (citation omitted); *Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 11, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). *See also State v. Avery*, 2013 WI 13, ¶¶ 38, 57, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d 60 (reversing court of appeals' grant of new trial in interest of justice; that the jury did not hear exculpatory scientific evidence did not make case "a truly exceptional one").

In other words, discretionary reversal is a "formidable power" that should be exercised "sparingly" and with "great caution." State v. Tainter, 2002 WI App 296, ¶ 23, 259 Wis. 2d 387, 655 N.W.2d 538. This caution is warranted because the "real controversy" standard does not require that the outcome be different on retrial. Vollmer, 156 Wis. 2d at 19.

2. Discretionary reversal should not be used to supplant ineffectiveassistance claims.

Importantly, where defense counsel fails to object to errors at trial, the only context within which the defendant's claims can be considered in this court is an ineffectiveassistance claim. *State v. Ndina*, 2007 WI App 268, ¶ 12, 306 Wis. 2d 706, 743 N.W.2d 722 (unobjected-to error must be analyzed under ineffective-assistance standards); *State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 48-49 n.5, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994) (Wis. Stat. § 752.35 not intended to supplant ineffective-assistance claims).

Analyzing claims under the ineffective-assistance framework, rather than the interests of justice framework, is in accordance with the long-established general rule that an appellate court does not review an error unless it has been properly preserved. State v. Bannister, 2007 WI 86, ¶ 42, 302 Wis. 2d 158, 734 N.W.2d 892. The general rule gives attorneys an incentive to diligently try the case at trial because of the threat of waiver. Id. It also emphasizes the need for objections, which brings an issue to the court's attention and allows it to correct errors, thereby reducing the need for appeals. Id. The general rule also preserves for the court of appeals the role of corrector of errors actually made by circuit courts, rather than addressing issues not even raised in the circuit court. Id.

B. Green's claims are premised on his counsel's failures and actions, and must be analyzed as ineffective-assistance claims, not as interest-of-justice claims.

Green argues that he is entitled to a new trial in the interests of justice (Green's brief at 14-22). Specifically, Green argues that the real controversy was not fully tried because the jury instructions did not adequately explain that "imperfect" self-defense negated the element of utter disregard (*id.* at 16-18), and that allegedly key testimony was not placed into context or highlighted (*id.* at 18-20). Green concludes that he is entitled to a new trial, because there would be a substantial probability of a new result upon retrial (*id.* at 20-22).

But as the circuit court found (44:2 [A-Ap. 2]), the problem with these arguments is that Green does not even argue that his counsel was ineffective, yet his interest-ofjustice arguments are all predicated on counsel's alleged errors and omissions.

For example, Green argues that the jury instructions were improper (Green's brief at 16-18), yet Green's counsel did not object to the jury instructions, and in fact, expressly
agreed to the instructions (58:81-83), as discussed further below. Thus, this court is prohibited from directly reviewing the instructions and verdict forms. *State v. Becker*, 2009 WI App 59, ¶¶ 16-18, 318 Wis. 2d 97, 767 N.W.2d 585 (absent timely objection by defendant, those claims can only be revisited as claims of ineffective assistance of counsel).

Similarly, Green argues that allegedly key testimony was not placed into context or highlighted, and an alleged key fact was never introduced (Green's brief at 18-20). Again, however, these arguments implicate Green's counsel's omissions in failing to make the arguments, and include or highlight the testimony, that Green wanted.

Therefore, this court should reject Green's attempt to frame his arguments within the interests-of-justice framework, and instead should apply the standards set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), because Green's claims of error have all been waived due to omissions of defense counsel. *Ndina*, 306 Wis. 2d 706, ¶ 12; *Bannister*, 302 Wis. 2d 158, ¶ 42; *Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d at 48-49 n.5.

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